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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ARl
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
F s

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of China New City Commercial Development Limited
(“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | submit
herewith the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

2021 had been the second year since the outbreak of Covid-19, social
development and macroeconomic were subject to many uncertainties as
well as significant challenges. As pointed out in the Report on the Work
of the Government published in March 2021, the Covid-19 pandemic
continued to spread rapidly around the world, while factors contributing to
instability in international relations were mounting, as the global economic
landscape remained complex with austere conditions. Domestically,
there were still occasional weak links in our work to control Covid-19.
The foundation of economic recovery had yet to be strengthened, while
investment growth lacked sustainability, leaving MSMEs and individual
proprietors in tough business conditions. For some local governments
which faced glaring budgetary deficits, the task of preventing and
mitigating financial and other risks remained an enormous one. Such
complex economic and social environment called for versatility and
precision in macroeconomic and other policies. The macroeconomy was
experiencing downturn pressure as a result of the impacts of scattered
Covid-19 outbreaks, floods and other natural disaster occurring in various
regions as well as restrictions on production activities and electricity

supply.
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MARKET

Since August, there had been significant changes in real estate policies
following the collapse of certain real estate enterprises and the rapid,
continuous cooling of the real estate market. Such changes were
underpinned primarily by the concern for the financial risks of real estate
enterprises and the tightening of mortgage lending, among others. In
the third quarter, the intertwined and combined impact of the epidemic
and the change in real estate policies adversely affected deployment and
operation of the Group’s commercial projects. To address the severe
market conditions, the Group actively responded to the austerity by
speeding up the destocking of inventory properties and cash recovery to
ensure the security of funds.
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT
R

COMMERCIAL

In terms of commercial operation, following the launch of our commercial
brand under the theme of “Blooming (48/%) ", the Group launched the
brand of “Pleasant Living for All GR=Z47E) " in the year to focus on the
operation of future communities, as it seized the favorable opportunity
presented by Zhejiang Province’s vigorous effort to build a future
community and persisted in the integration of construction and operation
from the building of houses to the building of cities in tandem with latest
developments. Currently, the brand has officially entered into strategic
media cooperation agreements with a number of channels and websites,
as well as strategic industry alliances for cooperation with research
institutes. In the future, the business segment and the “Pleasant Living
for All (GRZ4E)” brand will expand and strengthen this new business
model on the back of three future communities, including Sha Bei in
Taizhou, Longgang in Wenzhou and Kegiao in Shaoxing, with the aim
of assisting Zhejiang Province in the creation of an exemplary zone for
common prosperity and the securing of preemptive opportunities for
development.
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Apart from breakthroughs in the new business models, continued
conversion, improvement and innovation have also been made in the
existing business under the commercial segment. Highlong Plaza has
been officially renamed as Xiaoshan Zhong An Plaza and is set for
blooming development in four aspects: a new positioning, new image,
new trademark and new business. The first local cultural trademark in
Xiaoshan will be introduced to investigate the feasibility of developing an
immersive and experiential shopping centre that would more properly
cater to the habits and needs of local consumers as a masterpiece
commercial property in Xiaoshan.

In the future, we need to create a successful template of future
communities and seize opportunities. Based on the existing future
community projects, we will establish Zhong An’s brand and industry
position in respect of the development and operation of future
communities. We will transform the traditional business model of
department store into a fast-selling-oriented, experiential and leisurely
business model with business resource reserve and form unique
trademark resources focusing on the principle of “Small brand, light
investment, fast development”.

HOTEL

As for the hotel operations, despite the considerable impact of epidemic
outbreaks in the first three quarters on the industry, we remained a leader
among our competition in terms of indicators such as consolidated
revenue, occupancy rate and average room prices thanks to the diligent
efforts of the hotel team. Meanwhile, our hotels actively pursued internal
improvement during the epidemic by comprehensively enhancing the
“craft quality” and “craftsmanship” of Bright Hotel through vocational
skill competitions and the building of a 4D management system. In July
2021, the hotel was honoured with the 2021 China Best Hotel Group
Employer (20214 £ Bl & £ /B 5 5 [ {8 I £%) at the China Hotel Forum
& Menduner Awards (P93% 52 /B 5 2 = 2 5m 18 B P 0 V42 0E £ 8148) |

In the future, we need to create an upstream and downstream integrated
management ecological chain with hotel as the core and realize resource
complementation and mutual sharing to create marginal benefits.
Meanwhile, we will enhance hotel themes and features to implement
differentiated market operation philosophy. With different themes, we will
create different closed loop of consumption ecology and realize diversified
operation. We must strengthen our catering operation capability. With
traditional culture and traditional craftsmanship as the core of the cuisine,
we will develop the catering business into one of the foundations of the
hotel’s brand and upgrade the overall operational efficiency of the hotels.

CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
B

BrT R E RIS RN BERIEBEAR
MR BRI SUE ~ Je T LUK R o (B2
EHECEAEARBURRES BIEHEML
MR iR wE R E S ER AR > I
SIARULEBAEMXEER RENEN B
XYoo BEFNLSEMHEENZIENE
KoTERUBENITRZ(Fo

RPIRRBEIT SRR TR INENR > ME R
o BRRARRHEEEE B RLERRME
EFRBEENMEMITEMO, REEREEHE
B XTERERE BRI KEAENEEREAMN
BEERFHEE BEDRE BRARER)
WRA R BENERER-

i)

EREEETH A =—FERBNEHITEEN
THAINEER BEBEREBRNEHZT RE

Bl HER - PHEBFSRERIENRF
.WAE?EHT,TJ o [B] By » B S TE IR 1B BB AR AR E IR
A RBRBHEREABNIDEERRE
REEREAARTEENTECREINTEAR
) 20217 R BIEEFIH R A XS ERE
B PIS 5 BRARR S | > S0 FEPER
FREERREEE

BARRBEITE LT E—RCEEERE
BIERPO TR E T HF—RCEEEREE B
REREMER BMNERNE OITH#HE@@EF“
TENFOTE TAEREHHEEEES T
EWERE FTERRICHEERRIR BRZT
EAEE - BIBFABEEERES | UEHEXE
BHRIZERIRZL VB R BRI BEE MR
R Y — R FEE B RBAAR S Mt o

PR LR EERAR
—E-_FER

i



8

CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
T

RESULTS

In 2021, the Group recorded an increase in revenue and the capital
structure was optimized. During the year, the Group’s revenue
was approximately RMB871,066,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 24.3%; gross profit was approximately
RMB216,497,000, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
27.2%; loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB295,136,000. As at the end of 2021, the total equity of the Group
was approximately RMB5,733,595,000, representing a slight decrease of
approximately 5.7% from the end of 2020; the carrying amount of cash
reached approximately RMB1,948,034,000. During the year, the Group’s
cash position and gearing ratio had both improved and with the “Three
Red Line” ratios had all been satisfactorily met.

The Group recorded a loss per share attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent of approximately RMB14.7 cents. The board
of directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year under review.

PROSPECTS

In 2022, it is expected that the principle of “safeguarding the healthy
development of the real estate market as well as the legitimate rights
of home buyers” will be implemented in a more effective manner. There
should be further improvements to the delivery assurance policies of local
governments, and it is more likely that pre-sale proceeds will be subject
to stringent supervision with some latitude for slight adjustments, such
that a new balance between ensuring property delivery and improvement
of corporate capital utilisation efficiency could be attained. Meanwhile,
the Group will look for possible investment opportunities in China or
overseas to diversify the income source and risk exposure of the Group.
The Board will continue to closely monitor the potential impact caused
by the COVID-19 pandemic and will fine-tune the Group’s strategies and
inform the shareholders and the public of any material development in due
course.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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the continuing support and trust of shareholders of the Company and
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Group.

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BA VIS

As at 31 December 2021 122021512831 H

LAND RESERVE

As at 31 December 2021, the total GFA of land reserves of the Group was
approximately 4,069,165 sg.m..

The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s investment

TifHE

L2021 12A31H  REBERN LM EH 2B R
HETRA#34,069,165F 75K

TRV ESEFBEHE2021F12831 BB EY

properties as of 31 December 2021: EME
Project Location Property type GFA
EHE 1 Y EZ = BEER
sg. m.
FHK
Investment Properties
REME
Guomao Building Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 12,225
Bl N HILE TN BERARE
Integrated Service Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 5,913
iR E RO RiipAR=pypl [EES =y
Highlong Plaza Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 63,388
B[ &% HILE TN BERARE
Landscape Garden Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 8,781
L7k 38 RipAR=pypl [EES =y
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 17,814
(23 HILE TN BERARE
La Vie Shanghai Commercial 341
LaET tiE [EES
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 59,305
L2371 /N =2V HILE TN BERARE
Zhong An Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 92,489
MRZES HILBERDE [EES =y
Zhong An Times Square (Phase I)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 2,160
RERRES (—H) HILBERDE BERARE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 6,648
MLRHES (ZH) HILBERDE [EES =y
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Commercial 17,092
PRI HILE TN [EES
286,658

China New City Commercial Development Limited

2021 Annual Report



MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE
FATRSE IR e Bl B 1 32 25

Project GFA of
Project Location Property type Site area GFA land bank
. HEEE b U4
EHH Uk MEREE 3t E R [k BEEBA
Q. m. Q. m. sQ. m.
FHAR FAK FHK
Prg)‘ects Under Development and Completed Properties Held for Sale
REPEERGFEHEERTIYE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase ) Yuyao Zhgjiang Integrated Commercial 65,159 305,473 132,475
. Province Complex
K2R AES (—H) HILBERDE BREGAHE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 71,519 322,912 105,692
\ . Province Complex
R AES (ZH) HILBERDE [EES =y
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 89,173 241,695 81,318
N __Province Complex
fRREE HILETIMN BERARE
Cixi New City Ningbo, Zhejiang Office, Commercial 49,804 159,510 19,295
Province
R HIEE) MAE EE
Tuankou Phoenix Mountain Hot Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 37,500 63,502 63,502
Spring Hotel __Province .
mDHﬁmm%EF RipAR=pypl EEYEES
Xinnongdu Hangzhou/Quzhou/ Integrated Commercial 991,736 1,217,335 1,152,734
ZhUJl/Cha xmgSE Complex
MR MH/%P g2/ BEREE
Xuzhou New City Xuzhou Jiangsu Integrated Commercial 154,802 562,371 562,371
Comp ex
TR TLERRIN BERARE
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Office/Commercial 39,703 83,391 30,266
Province
PRI HILE TN I Y/NE Y SES
Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 24,534 109,173 33,150
- __Province Complex
FRERTE HILEHN m¥wm
Hangzhou Qlandao Lake Bright Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 119,398 46,691 46,691
Resort Hot: __Province o
mu%%wmm%r&@r HILETIMN (EEY S
Fashion Color City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 26,087 78,261 78,261
o __Province Complex
B HILE TN [EESER
International Office Center (Plot A)  Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 92,610 798,795 553,417
__Province Comp ex
BRI AL (Alt3E) HILEHN [EESERay
International Ofnce Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 207,390 1,098,065 1,098,065
(Plots B and C) __Province Complex
IW%“mu@m%&O%% HILE TN BERARE
Beigan Project Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 12,819 44,867 44,867
__Province Complex
JE&IEE HILE TN BERARE
Huaibei Bright Hotel Huaibei, Anhui Commercial/Hotel 60,768 67,061 67,061
Province
HEILRIRSEE 2RI EEYELS
4,069,165
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o L v i B

REVIEW OF 2021

In 2021, China’s real estate market experienced the structural transition
from extremely heated sentiments during the first six months to
fundamental corrections in the latter half of the year; nevertheless, a
relatively large market size was retained for the year as a whole. The effect
of ongoing modifications and upgrades in the regulation policy introduced
in the real estate market during the first three quarters has been evident.

A “two-way” mode for property market regulation was implemented
throughout the year. In some cities where property price levels were
more resilient, regulatory policies swiftly responded to sharp rise in
prices with the introduction of effective tools such as the establishment
of a mechanism for the publication of referential prices for second-hand
housing transactions and credit tightening etc. For other cities where
the real estate market was under greater pressure in price correction,
moderate policy adjustments were made to stabilize market expectations.

In 2021, the Group’s revenue recorded an increase and the capital
structure was optimized. During the year, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB871,066,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 24.3%; gross profit was approximately RMB216,497,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 27.2%; net
loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB295,136,000. As of the end of 2021, the total equity of the Group
reached approximately RMB5,733,595,000, representing a slight
decrease of approximately 5.7% from the end of 2020; the carrying
amount of cash reached approximately RMB1,948,034,000.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022

In terms of macroeconomics, a trend of steady recovery will continue in
the Chinese economy, although there will also be new challenges and
obstacles due to the increasing instability and uncertainties in both the
domestic and international environments. It is expected that the principle
of “safeguarding the healthy development of the real estate market as well
as the legitimate rights of home buyers” will be implemented in a more
effective manner. There should be further improvements to the delivery
assurance policies of local governments and it is more likely that pre-sale
proceeds will be subject to stringent supervision with some latitude for
slight adjustments, such that a new balance between ensuring property
delivery and improvement of corporate capital utilisation efficiency could
be attained.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In general, it is expected that the overall direction for the regulation of
the real estate industry will remain unchanged, and the rigour of financial
supervision will not be relaxed. Policies such as the “Three Red Lines” for
enterprises, the “Two Red Lines” for banks, and the “Two Concentrations”
for land supply will continue to be implemented. Currently, the real
estate market has entered a phase of correction, and there will be
increasing mergers and acquisitions in the industry. Against this backdrop,
real estate companies should more than ever control their scale of
development and adjust their pace in tandem with the market trend in
2022: they should accelerate the collection of sales proceeds and closely
monitor financing windows to ensure cash flow security; they should
plan their expenditure in a manner commensurate with their income and
optimize their business presence to focus on mainstream cities; they
should improve their product and service capabilities to improve brand
competitiveness. Furthermore, new development opportunities may arise
during the stage of industry correction. Private enterprises should look
to cooperate with state-owned enterprises to broaden their scope of
development.

DEVELOPMENT OF MAJOR PROJECTS
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

Fashion Color City

It is located in Xinjie Village, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou. It consists of
hardcover loft apartments, large apartments and shops, with a total floor
area of approximately 26,087 sgq.m. and a total GFA of approximately
78,261 sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced
construction in the third quarter of 2020 and started the pre-sale in the
fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in 2022. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

International Office Centre (I0C)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City GZTtH4230)
serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices. The total site area of
Plot A is 92,610 sg.m. and planned total GFA is 798,795 sq.m.. The
project is constructed in three phases, consists of Plots A1, A2 and A3.

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising

Among which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced
apartments, shops and underground parking spaces with a total GFA
of approximately 327,996 sg.m.. The construction of Plot A2 has
commenced in 2019 with a total GFA of approximately 263,555 sg.m..
The project started the pre-sales in the third quarter of 2020, and is
expected to be completed in 2022. The volume of pre-sales of the project
during the year under review was within expectation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI i L0

Beigan Project

It is located in Beigan Technology Innovation Park, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, and consists of large flats and shops, with a total floor area
of approximately 12,819 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 44,867
sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced construction
in the fourth quarter of 2021 and is expected to start the pre-sale in the
second quarter of 2022 and is expected to be completed in 2024.

Cixi New City

This is a residential property project in Cixi, Zhejiang Province. Commercial
Phase 1, with a total GFA of about 28,158 sg.m., commenced
construction in July 2019, started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020,
and completed in 2021. Commercial Phase I, with a total GFA of about
72,000 sg.m., commenced construction in the second quarter of 2021,
and is expected to be completed in 2023.

Sales Review

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”), the recognized sales
of properties sold and delivered was approximately RMB410,180,000
(2020: approximately RMB248,942,000). A total of the recognized GFA
delivered of properties was approximately 26,994 sg.m..

t#EE

AR T E UGBS AEMIE BXFE
K mthAR R > ARG EFRAY12,819F /5K » 4838
HEBEL44,867TFF K EEERAZ - ZBEERN
2021 ENEERT  FAHN20228F ZFE
BUEHTEE > 1R2024F 8 T o

BRI

AR IR ETNEEMEBEE X1
MR EEMAEM28,158F H K> R20195F7 8 B
T MiR2020F E =FEMETEE » 2021 F 218
TomETH BREEBMBELT2,000F 5K 1
2021EE —ZEMT » FAAR20235F 8 T o

SHE R

REZE2021FE12831HIEEE (IFEE))
A HERRMNMEZERIBEESENS
AK#410,180,0007T (20204 : AR AR
248,942,0007T) ° BRERHNE R T AL RmE
T4 526,994F 753K o

2021 2020

20214 20204

(RMB million) (RMB million)

NRE®EHET) ONESa= o)

Chaoyang Yinzuo EH 5 3R A 0.8 19.8
Cixi New City ORI ™ 112.1 =
International Office Centre Phase A3 B PRHEA A 190.4 43.9
Xixi Manhattan AR S miE 13.7 -
Xixi New City PRI ™ 23.7 48.0
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase | BRIk R 2 ESE— 4.4 37.8
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase I BRIk R 2R ES 61.4 86.6
Other projects Higg 3.7 12.8
410.2 248.9
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2021 Contracted Sales

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B L B

2021 FEHMERHEE

The contracted sales area of the Group was approximately 105,453 AFEEAEENERHEEEBLN#105,453F 7
sg.m. for the Year (2020: approximately 60,936 sq.m.) and contracted K (20204F : #960,936F 5 3K) » A FE & FH
sales revenue was approximately RMB2,650,800,000 for the Year (2020: &AM A AR #52,650,800,0007T (20204 : 49
approximately RMB1,242,900,000). Details of the contracted sales of the AR #51,242,900,0007T) > FEEBENSREHE

major projects are as below: BT
Contracted Contracted
sales area sales revenue
AREEEE AREEWRA
Projects City (sg.m.) (RMB million)
15H W (FEFHK) NG =)
Cixi New City Cixi 2,432 26.1
BRI BE
Fashion Color City Hangzhou 4,417 127.7
EEPA LN
International Office Centre (IOC)A2 Hangzhou 35,161 1,740.1
BRI A FRIDA2 TN
International Office Centre (IOC)A3 Hangzhou 5,963 194.2
BRI A FRIDAS N
Xixi New City Hangzhou 927 30.1
FERFTI T TN
Xinnongdu Hangzhou 43,931 440.8
Gl LN
Zhong An Times Square Phase | Yuyao 206 1.4
ML ES BRIk
Zhong An Times Square Phase |l Yuyao 11,190 72.9
RER A ES BRIk
Others (Commercial) Hangzhou 1,226 17.5
HAith (FZ) LAl
105,453 2,650.8

RE AL RRERAD
“§-_—aam 1/
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI i L0

Hotel Operation

There are four hotels of the Group namely Holiday Inn Hangzhou
Xiaoshan, Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel, Ningbo Bright Hotel
and Huaibei Bright Hotel. The hotel operation of the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB173,177,000 (2020: approximately
RMB182,516,000), representing a decrease of approximately 5.1%,
during the Year and the hotel occupancy rate was approximately 40%
(2020: approximately 43%).

Leasing Business

The leasing income of the Group mainly comes from Highlong Plaza,
International Office Centre and Zhong An Times Square, including office
and shopping malls. The total revenue from leasing business for the
Year was approximately RMB122,282,000, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB22,563,000 (2020: approximately RMB144,845,000).
The decline was due to the renovation of the Highlong Plaza and the
average occupancy rate of leasing properties (calculated by dividing total
lease area by total area available for lease) was approximately 87% (2020:
approximately 94%).

Land Reserve

As of 31 December 2021, the total GFA of land reserves held for
development and/or sale of the Group was approximately 4,069,165
sg.m..

REVENUE

The Group recorded the consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB871,066,000 for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB170,696,000 or 24.4% when compared with the same year in 2020.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in the revenue from the
property sales.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

BIEEE

FEFEIRAIURAEE BTN EE LR BBEE - #
MTF EMEIRIFERENS ERARITEERE
IEBHEEE RAEER  AEBBESER
BU AL AR IE173,177,0007T (20204 : YA R
#182,516,0007T) > B #95.1% 2 JBIE AEEL
E40% (20204 : £943%) ©

HEXH

REBMASWA > TERBIEREES BRI
AHFLERERRES GEFRFENEYE
BoRNAFEER KEHEEEB ZEKRALHA
E#5122,282,0007T » AL #9 A R #22,563,0007T

(20204 : 49 AR 1144,845,0007T) < /> TH R
REEBIERBESME MEBEYEZ FHEME
X (RBEdHEEmERUETAERETS) e
87% (20204 : #994%) ©

T it

BE2021F128310 AEBEFERER,
HENTMEE 2 BREEBLN 54,060,165
HKe

A

FEBREAFERSFEEBRANBARE
871,066,0007T > #2020 18 1N 49 A K #5170,696,000
TOE24.4%  BANTH EE RN Y EHE R INPR
o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue from the property sales increased to approximately
RMB410,180,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB161,238,000 or 64.8% when compared with the
same year in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the fact that the
impact of the Covid-19 epidemic had subsided in the Mainland China
during 2021 which led to an increase in the property sales.

The revenue from the property rental amounted to approximately
RMB122,282,000 during the Year, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB22,563,000 or 15.6% when compared with the same
year in 2020. The decline was due to the renovation of the Highlong
Plaza, which involved merchants’ exemptions, relocation and store
closure etc., which led to the lower average occupancy rate of leasing
properties in the Year.

The revenue from the hotel operation amounted to approximately
RMB173,177,000 during the Year, representing an decrease of
approximately RMB9,339,000 or 5.1% when compared with the same
year in 2020. The moderate decrease was mainly due to the mild drop of
the hotel occupancy rate.

The other revenue included property management services business,
commercial project management business and other services
of RMB165,427,000, representing an increase of approximately
RMB41,360,000 or 33.3% when compared with the same year in 2020.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB216,497,000, representing an increase of
approximately RMB46,342,000 or 27.2% when compared with
the same year in 2020. The gross profit margin was 24.9%, no
significant movement when compared with the gross profit margin
of 24.3% in 2020.

P e Loy B

RAFER MEHEBKAENENAARKE
410,180,0007T » EX20204E 1 1049 A R #£161,238,000
TLE64.8%  BRIE MDA EEBNR20214
Covid- 19 BER PR ARENEZEBRFE B
HhEE £ B S NPT B o

RAFER MERERALGA AR122,282,000
700 BR20205F 8 4 AR 122,563,0007T 3
15.6% c BRR /L Th R A EEEBIERES S
EERE#He -WMEKEAEESE SHEYWES
FHHBET RS

RERFER BIEEERALNRARE173,177,000
76 82020F /L9 AR 9,339,000 5
51% - BRIBMR LT EBZHOEE AEERR
MR BRPREL

HMWATBENEEERREES BHEXEE
BEEEREMREARK165,427,0007T ° &
20204 1 049 A\ R #841,360,00077 8(33.3% ©

EF

RAFEERN > REBNENNA AK216,497,000
7T BR2020F 8 A AR #46,342,0007C 3%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

The other income and gains, net amounted to approximately
RMB374,689,000 during the Year, representing a tangible increase
of approximately RMB188,024,000 or 100.7% when compared with
the same year in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the receipt of
compensation income from a legal case, an increase in interest income,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on disposal of right-of-use assets
and dividend income from equity investments.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION
EXPENSES

The selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
RMB182,698,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB18,395,000 or 11.2% when compared with the
same year in 2020. Such increase was principally due to an increase in
advertising and promotional activities for the properties pre-sold during
the Year when compared with the same year in 2020.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB249,476,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB48,452,000 or 24.1% when compared with the
same year in 2020. Such increase was principally due to an increase in
administrative staff for new projects deployed.

OTHER EXPENSES

The other expenses amounted to approximately RMB151,826,000
during the Year, mainly representing the impairment of goodwill of
RMB98,995,000 and impairment provision for property and equipment
of RMB11,436,000 as resulted from a business revaluation of the parent-
child family club, Maggie & Rose.

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB223,094,000 for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB3,897,000 or 1.8% when compared with the same year in 2020.
Such increase was mainly due to less interests on bank loans and other
commercial borrowings for completed properties were capitalized during
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The loss attributable to the Group was approximately RMB302,815,000
for the Year, comparing with a net profit of approximately RMB25,081,000
in 2020, such loss for the Year was mainly due to the fact the Group
recorded a fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties in the
amount of approximately RMB356,806,000 during 2020 which was not
available in the Year 2021.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group’s capital expenditure requirements mainly relate to additions
of its property and equipment. The Group spent approximately
RMB118,941,000 on property and equipment during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the Year.

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 3 February 2021, the Group had entered into sale and purchase
agreements with Zhong An Group to agree conditionally to sell the entire
operation in commercial property management business at an aggregate
of consideration of RMB104.65 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$125.58 million) (“Transfers”).

As Zhong An Group is the controlling shareholder of the Group, Zhong An
Group is a connected person of the Group. As one or more of the relevant
percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the
Transfers exceeded 5%, the Transfers constituted non-exempt connected
transactions for the Group under the Listing Rules and were subject to the
reporting, announcement and approval by the independent shareholders
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. An extraordinary general
meeting had been held on 24 March 2021 to approve the Transfers. The
completion of the Transfers took place on 13 April, 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of approximately RMB1,948,034,000
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB1,108,888,000). The
current ratio (as measured by current assets to current liabilities) as at 31
December 2021 was 1.05 (as at 31 December 2020: 1.69).

As at 31 December 2021, the bank loans and other borrowings of the
Group repayable within one year and after one year were approximately
RMB1,527,310,000 and approximately RMB3,107,940,000 respectively
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB665,555,000 and
approximately RMB4,803,094,000 respectively). Except for certain
short-term bank and other borrowings amounting to approximately
RMB2,384,950,000 (as at 31 December 2020: approximately
RMB854,120,000) that bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear
interest at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio was 42% (as at 31
December 2020: 49%), which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash and
cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the
parent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately RMB4,635,250,000 (as at 31 December
2020: approximately RMB5,468,649,000) were secured by the Group’s
pledge of assets as follows:

P e Loy B

HERH

12021128318 AEERITTER KR EME
A A N R 4,635,250,0007T (1202012831
H : AR 5,468,649,0007T) HAEE U TE
EERIEIER

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

#20214 20204

12H31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

Property and equipment L EYSE 1,185,489 1,236,965
Investment properties KEYE 2,681,570 3,185,130
Properties under development etk /S 485,411 485,411
Completed properties held for sale FEHEBB TY % 678,740 913,191
Restricted cash S REIIRE 64,109 40,572
5,095,319 5,861,269

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group principally operates in PRC and the revenue, operating cost
and borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB. As a result, the Group
has minimal exposure to exchange rate fluctuation. The interest rates for
the Group'’s borrowings were both floating and fixed. Upward fluctuations
in interest rates will increase the cost of borrowings.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. Cash is generally placed in short-term deposits mostly
denominated in RMB. The Group does not use any financial instruments
for hedging purpose for the Year.

GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s contingent liabilities was
approximately RMB316,410,000 (2020: approximately RMB46,656,000),
which were mainly the guarantees provided by the Group in favour
of certain banks for the grant of mortgage loans to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s capital commitments for
property development expenditures amounted to approximately
RMB1,330,123,000 (2020: approximately RMB1,001,730,000). It is
expected that the Group will finance such capital commitments from its
own funds and bank loans.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets as at 31 December 2021.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 1,630 employees (2020: 1,729).
The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal once every year for its employees,
the results of which are applied in annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement of
annual bonus according to certain performance conditions and appraisal
results. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programmes to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so
as to maintain and enhance their competitiveness.

STRATEGIES

The management has developed sound strategies to overcome the
abovementioned challenges and address the uncertainties faced by the
Group, including formulating effective marketing strategies and plans and
improving our products and services quality to consolidate our brand.
The Group will put more efforts in formulating new policies, guidelines,
systems and processes to facilitate effectively cost management, risk
management, internal control and sustainable environmental management
to enhance company management standards and corporate governance
standards. For growth strategy, the Group will focus on identifying
possible acquisitions with future development prospects and profitability
to improve the returns on assets. The Group will further emphasize
on investor relations management, and continue to convey clearly the
operation vision, business updates and future development strategies
of the Group and other information to various stakeholders through
press conferences, roadshows, media delegation visits and one-on-one
analyst or investor interview and otherwise to strive for the recognition
and support from various stakeholders and obtain more resources for
business development and maximizing shareholders’ value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees, customers and suppliers are the key stakeholders who affect
the sustainability of our business. Engaging with those stakeholders will
not only help us understand the possible risks and opportunities to our
business, but also help us to mitigate risk and seize the opportunities in
the real market situation.

The Group believes that our people are critical factors to the Group'’s
success and competitiveness in the market. As such, we had adopted
a share option scheme on 20 May 2015 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contributed to the
success of the Group’s operations.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated sales team constantly
communicates with our customers and potential customers to uncover
and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. Grasping the market trend is the key for the Group to timely
adjust our operating strategies to meet the market demands.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company’s policies and practices highlight the importance of
compliance with all relevant local laws, rules, regulations and standard.
This in return, facilitates the continuous granting of specific licenses and
permissions.

The Group will seek professional legal advice from legal advisers, where
necessary, to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

No material accidents related to serious injuries, death or property
damage and no environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management during the year under
review and as at the date of this annual report. The management is of the
view that the Group were in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations in each material respects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
W BRJEG wlam B

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to protecting
the environment in the areas where we operate and ensuring that
environmental standards set by the government are consistently met.

We have closely monitored our projects at different stages to ensure that
construction process is in compliance with laws and regulations related
to environment protection and safety. The Group endeavors to manage
its project operations by working with suppliers and contractors to ensure
that they understand the importance of environmental protection, pollution
prevention and waste reduction. We also encourage all our employees to
be more environmentally conscious.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEELRER
PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company had complied  #E2021FE12831HIEEE A AT BB Lk
with the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 (asin TR BIMT 8%+ IOFr & 2 &8 FRIMSFRIEX

force as at 31 December 2021) to the Listing Rules. (B E2021F12831BBM) ©
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEELAEE

STRUCTURE

The Board will review the corporate governance structure of the Group EEE R ARG AEBM L EEAZE  WiE
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may be  EREFREVE S > M AE B2 E T8 ¥
desirable for future development of the operating activities or business of ~ FHIRIKEEE o

the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises: () executive directors: Mr. Shi Nanlu, Mr. Liu Bo
and Ms. Tang Yiyan; (i) non-executive directors: Mr. Shi Zhongan and Mr.
Tang Min; and (jii) independent non-executive directors: Mr. Ng Sze Yuen,
Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 57 to 60 in this
annual report. There are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships) among members of the
Board. A list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board meets regularly to discuss the
overall strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other electronic
means of communication in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”).
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During the year under review, a total of 4 Board meetings and one general
meeting were held. The individual attendance of the Directors is tabulated
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REEEER BTEHOREZTEEEZR—X
REAE - BEEHNERLFERNT

as follows:
Number of Number of
attendance/ attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
HEESEE
GERE HFE
BEFE RRAZTRES
EERE REAERY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Shi Nanlu T i B ST 4/4 1/1
Mr. Liu Bo B e 4/4 11
Ms. Tang Yiyan ElaRiZt+ 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Shi Zhongan MR &4 4/4 1/1
Mr. Tang Min BIRESE 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry C-Va b ivic = 4/4 1/1
Mr. Xu Chengfa BERERE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung iR E 4/4 1/1

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer are separate and
are not performed by the same individual as this ensures better checks
and balances and hence better corporate governance. During the year
under review and as at the date of this report, the role of the chairperson
was performed by Mr. Shi Zhongan, while Mr. Shi Nanlu was chief
executive officer of the Group.

The chairperson had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that all
issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in the
meetings of the Board.
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Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-
Executive Directors

The non-executive Director, Mr. Shi Zhongan, has been appointed for a
term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically
renewable for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the
expiry of the appointment.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Tang Min, has been appointed for a term
of 3 years commencing on 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable
for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu
Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung, have been appointed for a term of 3
years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically renewable for
a successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive directors
possess extensive academic, professional and/or industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional advice to
the Board.

Power of and Delegation by the Board

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with
the Articles. The Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and
policies with emphasis on the business growth, financial performance
and corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and
accounting policies and responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
specifically resolved that all transactions/contracts/other matters of the
Group that are subject to the disclosure requirement in accordance with
the Listing Rules should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Board has delegated to the senior management to deal with day-
to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on a periodic basis.
The senior management frequently reports back to the Board and obtains
prior approval from the Board before making decisions for key matters or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the Directors
for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. The Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the Articles, remove
a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his
period of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and the corporate governance committee (the “Corporate
Governance Committee”) of the Company. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference which are available for inspection by the Shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(i) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of three members,

being one executive Director, Ms. Tang Yiyan, and two independent

non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the

Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for

the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the

Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(i)

(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

(f) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(@ to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the
year under review. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the
policies of remuneration packages of the Board of Directors. The
individual attendance of the members was tabulated as follows:
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€ WEAHEREFTRHREMAERE
HEEEMEFAMIRNMBER
o LRZEZHEER AR
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Number attendance/
Number of meetings

HERY EERE
Mr. Xu Chengfa BRESTE 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ik id 1/1
Ms. Tang Yiyan BElaL T 1/1
Nomination Committee (i) RBHLZEET

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of three members,
being one executive Director, Mr. Shi Nanlu, and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the
Nomination Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.
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The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination. Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship;

(c) to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
and to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

(d) to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

(e)  to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular, the chairperson and the chief executive officer of
the Company);

M to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
Shareholders at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the
Listing Rules, to review and provide recommendations to
the Shareholders (other than shareholders who are directors
with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such
service contracts are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how
to vote;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The Board has set the following measurable objectives

implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
Board members, it should be based on a series of diverse
aspects, including Board members with different background,
skills, regional and industry experience, race, gender and
other qualities, that are in balanced and complementary
with each other, creating synergy, and enabling the Board to
function effectively as a whole.
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The nomination procedures are as follow: RGERUWT -

. candidates for directorship are selected by the Nomination . EFANEHRAEZEGHE HE
Committee subject to the review and approval of the Board in EgRBARNSEZ R E BEE
accordance with the Articles. =i

. when reviewing the composition of the Board and . R EE AR RE BESN
considering the nomination of new Directors, the Nomination REF ELEZEERERETA
Committee will take into account the skills, regional and ENRE M RITESR F5
industry experience, background, race, gender and other B A R EMRIT > URAAT
qualities of potential candidates and also business needs of HEBEE-
the Company.

Based on the review by the Nomination Committee, the Nomination REBERLEZEGZER RLZEER

Committee considers that the Company has achieved the B REEFEN AABBEINAENR

measurable objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity EEEL T EBEmMAETNA s E81R

Policy for the year under review.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee were held during the ROBEFERNRREZEGHEBT T

year under review. The Nomination Committee had reviewed the E?E“TE%%E@W NESENEEREZTT

structure and the diversification policy of the Board of Directors and EHRABIIREINEEETMEL TIEEK

had revised and restated the Board Diversity Policy. o

The individual attendance of the members of the Nomination REBFER SRR ZEGNENER]

Committee during the year under review was tabulated as follows: HEZNT .

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
HERY EEREY

Mr. Xu Chengfa BT E 1/1

Mr. Yim Chun Leung ik d 1/1

Mr. Shi Nanlu i e B S A 1/1
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(iii) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of three members, being

three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry

(chairperson of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim

Chun Leung. Mr. Ng Sze Yuen possess the appropriate professional

qualification, and accounting and financial management expertise.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor's independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is engaged before the audit
commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;

(iii)
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Review of the Company’s financial information

(e)

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, interim report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

in reviewing these reports (the Company’s annual report
and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report) before submission to the Board, the Audit
Committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(i) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting standards;

(v compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(vi)  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions, if any, have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;
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(viii)

()

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need
to be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

(@ inregard to (e) and (f) above:

U

(i)

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Group and the
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company'’s auditor; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditor;

(h)  to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim

and final audits, and any matters the auditor may wish to

discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);
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Overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk

management and internal control systems

)

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditor, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;
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to conduct exit interviews with any Director, manager,
financial controller or internal credit control manager upon
their resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his
departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be a Audit
Committee member, auditor and accounting staff either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Audit Committee
member, auditor and accounting staff or dismissal of any of
them;

to report to the Board on the matters set out above;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the

Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during

the year under review. The work performed by the Audit Committee

included the following:

reviewed the annual report and annual results announcement
of the Company;

reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company ;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;
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(iv)

- reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditor on any significant findings and audit issues;

- reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal control consultant on any significant findings
and internal control issues for the first half of the year under
review;

— reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion with
internal auditor on any significant findings and internal control
issues for the second half of the year under review;

- discussed with the external auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

- considered and approved the service contract of the auditor
for the year under review.

The individual attendance of the members of the Audit Committee
during the period under review was tabulated as follows:

— BRIIEBBEFAER Iﬁﬁ’)ﬂfﬁ%k
BN LB EE AN BETE
e

— ZBRERABRES URNEFOESF
ERNEAEREREASERERE
BENERREET R

— BEABRE UMR THOEF
EREAERERKAIEFHEFEE
SN ERIZBENETT S

— REZFEGA RPN RS
ZOMBERBEURSERER ;
P4

— EERMERIRESTEZUEMR

PN
G4

REIERAREAN EZEEEEME
BERIT :

BY{E 7]

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERY EHRRH
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry C Y npivbivic = 2/2
Mr. Xu Chengfa BRI E 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BRI E 2/2
Corporate Governance Committee (iv) t¥EEREZET
The Corporate Governance Committee comprises a total of three TrEEAEZEEH

members, being one executive Director, Mr. Shi Nanlu (chairperson
of the Corporate Governance Committee), and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry and Mr. Yim Chun
Leung.

The role and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee
include the following:

(@)  to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;
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(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code and the disclosures in the
Corporate Governance Report.

One meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee were
held during the year under review. The Corporate Governance
Committee had discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the
Group’s compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code
and the prevailing Listing Rules during the year under review. The
Corporate Governance Committee had also reviewed the internal
control reports and had discussion with internal control consultant
on any significant findings and internal control issues for the first
half of the year under review and had revised and restated Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors and Employees and Inside
Information Policy;

The individual attendance of the members of the Corporate
Governance Committee during the year under review was tabulated
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Number of meeting
HERYEHRH
Mr. Shi Nanlu el e 1/1
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry e wbaivie =l 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BT SE 11

Further details of the terms of reference of Board committees are
available on websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEM

The Group recognizes that good risk management is essential for the
long-term and sustainable growth of a business. The Board puts particular
emphasis on determining the risk-tolerance levels in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The management also
learns from other outstanding companies and takes into consideration
of the Company’s unique business and operating environment in
formulating the risk management and control framework. All employees
are committed to continually enhancing the risk management framework,
linking to our corporate strategies as well as integrating it into day-to-day
operation.

Objective of the Risk Management and Internal
Control

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

° to strengthen the Company’s risk management and internal control
in compliance with the Listing Rules requirement;

° to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control system;

° to implement a top-down and companywide risk management
system that covers every aspect of the business; and

° to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.
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Main Features of Risk Management System -
Three-tier Risk Management Approach

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle significant risks. At the first line of
protection, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management,
as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and models, provide
technical support, develops new systems and oversees portfolio
management. It ensures risks are within the acceptable range and that the
first line of protection is effective. As the final line of protection, the internal
audit department ensures that the first and second lines of protection are
effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

| |

First Line of Second Line of
Protection Protection
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Main Features of Internal Control System

Our internal control systems are developed with reference to the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
principles which involved five elements as internal environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication and
internal supervision. The aim of internal control is to reasonably guarantee
the compliance of its operation and management with regulations and
laws, assets security, and authenticity and integrity of financial report and
related information, improve the efficiency and effect of operating activities
and promote the realization of development strategy of the Group.

AR EIERREERE

FEBZAREZEZRHI2REBERER
THERELZEFTHELEAZEF(Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission) R BIFITE » B ke W ERIR IR ~ &Lz 5T
A BEIEES BEARBEBURANBEEERIE
ER NEEZESTAERIAAKLEEES
Ref BEZ2 UBREREMAENEER
BoReREEH I NERYR  REAEERE
R R o

Information and Internal
Communication Environment
HRiBE PIERRIR

Company’s
Objectives
YAGI =
Internal :
Supervision
PUEBEEE

Control
Activities

EREEE

Principal Risks and Key Controls

1. Market risks

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers from PRC.
The Group is exposed to the risks associated with the PRC market
which include the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions.
The market risks may pose an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.
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The project team will carefully scrutinize each project for
related risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant
government policies, market demand and conditions and economic
data. The management is responsible for supervision, conducting
regular operation reviews and keeping the Board fully informed
through regular reports, and prompt decisions can therefore be
made if changes are required.

Business and operational risks

Distinctive risks factors in property related businesses such as
default of buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems
may have different levels of negative impact on the results of the
Group’s operation. Industrial accidents may happen although
precautionary measures is established, which may damage the
Company’s reputation or cause financial loss to the Group.

The internal audit team will review key activities of the Group and
ensures all material controls, including financial and operational, are
functioning effectively. Precautionary and contingency measures are
also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major potential
loss, damage or impact to our operations. Insurance coverage
against accidental losses and/or other hazards is used in protecting
our assets and reputation against any potential liabilities.

Financial risks

The investment and business operation are exposed to risks from
exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity. Amid global financial
uncertainties, the financial risks encountered by the Group had
increased accordingly.

The Group closely monitors the financial risks and when appropriate
will adopt measures to manage and hedge corresponding risks by
using of derivatives such as interest rate and currency swaps. The
Group’s cash and financing are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level to achieve a better borrowing terms and
coherent financial risk management. To meet our obligations as and
when needed, the Group maintains sufficient facilities with various
banks and financial institutions. The maturity of deposits and loans
is carefully planned and managed to reduce liquidity risk.
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4. Talent risks

Talent shortage and high employee turnover will have a negative
impact on the Group’s present and future performance. We believe
that human resources are of critical importance for the success of
the Company.

To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group
evaluate our employee remuneration packages and monitor them
against market trends. We provide on-the-job training for new staff
and offer career advancement opportunities for suitable staff to
develop their full potential at various stages of their career. We also
encourage communication with all levels of staff to gather feedback
and suggestions for future improvement.

Review of Internal Control System

The internal audit department of the Company (“Internal Audit
Department”) in the year under review was responsible for the internal
control functions. The Internal Audit Department is required to provide
internal control assessment reports to the Audit Committee and the Board
on a regular or ad hoc basis.

The Board recognized its responsibility to ensure the Group maintains a
sound and effective risk management and internal control system. The
Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control of the Group during the Year. Such review had covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. No major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified. The Board and the Audit Committee
considered that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems are
reasonably implemented.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Future Commission in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

o the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or
inside information;

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that
only the executive Directors of the Company, company secretary
and investor relations officers are authorized to communicate with
parties outside the Group; and

o employees or Directors possessing inside information should
report the same to an executive Director, who will then report to
the Board. The Board will then discuss and handle the relevant
disclosures or dissemination of inside information accordingly.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to
the Board’s approval in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairperson and/or the chief executive officer on governance matters and
assisting the Board in discharging its obligations to Shareholders pursuant
to the Listing Rules. He is also responsible for ensuring that the activities
of the Board conducted efficiently and effectively, and procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations complied with, and facilitating induction
and professional developments of the Directors, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group. The Company
has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates.

During the year under review, all Directors have been given on a quarterly
basis the latest information report about the financial position and
business development of the Group. The Directors endeavor to ensure
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position
and prospects in annual reports, interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’'s Report” in this annual report.

OPERATION OF MEETING AND SUPPLY
OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given.

Board or committee papers will as far as practicable be sent to all
Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting
or a Board committee meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable them to make an informed
assessment of the information put before the Board and its Board
committees for approval. Management is also invited to join the Board or
Board committee meetings where appropriate.

Draft and final version of minutes of the meetings should be sent to all
Board and Board committee members for their comment and records.
Minutes of the meetings are kept by our Company Secretary, and the
Board and Board committee members may inspect the documents and
minutes of the Board and the Board committees at any time.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided by the
independent auditor, Ernst & Young, for the Year was RMB1,680,000
(2020: RMB1,700,000).

During the year under review, the independent auditor was also engaged
to review the interim results of the Company at a fee of RMB420,000
(2020: RMB300,000) and no other non-audit services took place (2020:
Nil).

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the controlling shareholders and the Company entered into
the Amended Non-Compete Undertakings to amend the Existing Non-
Compete Undertakings, which will supersede and replace in its entirety
the Existing Non-Compete Undertakings. In summary, pursuant to the
Amended Non-Compete Undertakings, any member of the Zhong An
Group will be entitled to be engaged in property management business
(including but not limited to residential, commercial or mixed commercial-
residential use properties and related ancillary services and for the
avoidance of doubt, does not include operations and management of
hotel and cinema) in the PRC, and the Group will no longer be engaged
in any property management business (excluding operations and
management of hotel and cinema) in the PRC. Please refer to the circular
dated 5 March 2021 for details.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’
INSURANCE

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage in
respect of legal action against them arising from their duties performed.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING ERFETEER
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional ZAATHENFMTEEESEFEREELRE IR
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The B EMMBMERRAE AR T B EEFIRM
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the EHBRIUREMEREESIRENRITEET
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time i UBREEETRENLESAER TR
and time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good FH¥ RIFHEEAERMER -

corporate governance practices.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training  RIFEEIRMHMECHE  NOBEEER > EEHRE

received by Directors during the year under review is as follows: SHEINBELT

Type of continuous
Name of Directors professional development
EEH4 FEEEEREN
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Shi Nanlu i e B S AE B
Mr. Liu Bo BTt B
Ms. Tang Yiyan FElafkzt B
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Shi Zhongan ik B
Mr. Tang Min Eqies B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry S wbaivie =l A/B
Mr. Xu Chengfa BRERE A/B
Mr. Yim Chun Leung iR E A/B
Notes: 5T

A attending briefing sessions and/or seminars relating to matters in financial, legal ~ A: HEBMMS AERCESATANBNE R

and corporate governance R E

B: reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of the ~ B: BEAM LLTRAREMBEREERERMERY
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements st EE R REMER
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MECHANISM FOR THE PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT ON MIXED-USE LANDS

In relation to the mechanism for the property development on Mixed-
use Lands (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 16 June
2014 (“Prospectus”)), each of Zhong An together with its subsidiaries,
(the “Zhong An Group”) and the Company has undertaken to each
other that it must, in respect of each of its financial year ending after the
Listing, instruct its auditor or independent financial advisers to review
such documents as the auditor or independent financial advisers may
require and confirm to its board of directors that the mechanism set out
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders —
Joint property development on mixed commercial-residential use land
projects” in the Prospectus had been complied with during such financial
year. During the year under review, the Directors confirm that there has
not been any occasion where an opportunity aroused for an acquisition
and development of land for property development project on mixed
commercial-residential use land projects in which the remaining Zhong
An Group (i.e. Zhong An Group, excluding the Group) (the “Remaining
Zhong An Group”) has invited the Group to participate in the Joint
Development (as defined in the Prospectus).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct during the year under review.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Group, are likely
to be in possession of inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the provisions of the Model Code when dealing in the
Company’s shares.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, general meetings shall be convened
on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders made to
Directors or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
shall not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Board and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
them by the Company.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election
as a Director

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the company secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier than the 7
clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date appointed for the relevant
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are available on the Company’s website.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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INVESTOR RELATIONS/WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
COMMUNICATION

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means of
access includes the release by the Company of the various corporate
communication of the Company via the website of the Stock Exchange
and the website of the Company (http://www.chinanewcity.com.cn).
Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend general
meetings of the Company where the chairperson of the Company and
other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the auditor of the
Company, are available to answer questions.

In addition, our chairperson, Directors and senior management actively
participated in various investor relations activities to reach and establish
a good long-term interactive relationship with shareholders and potential
investors. We introduced our current operating conditions and future
development strategies and at the same time also received advices
from investors regarding the Company’s development, from which we
understand more about investors’ expectations of the Company. Thereby,
we can continue improving the operation management of the Company
and establish effective mutual communication channels.

Enquiries and Proposals to the Board

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company for any
enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders may contact
the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in the PRC or the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn or direct any enquiries to the Company’s
investor relations representative, Capital Markets Department, whose
contact details are set out in the annual report of which this report forms
part.
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Annual General Meeting

The 2020 annual general meeting was held on 10 June 2021 at Crystal
Hall, 4th Floor, Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, No. 688 Shanyin
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC. The
Directors and senior management together with the external independent
auditor attended the annual general meeting to answer enquiries from
shareholders and investors attending the meeting. All ordinary resolutions
proposed in the meeting were duly passed by way of poll.

Regular Meetings with Investors

During the year under review, the Directors, senior management and
investor relations team have meetings with investors, fund managers and
financial analysts from time to time, introducing the operating conditions
and development strategies of the Company and answered the questions
raised. The Company provides the investors and analysts with clear
and timely compliance information to enable them to make reasonable
investment decisions with sufficient information.

Investor Relations Plan

In 2022, we will continue to enhance communication with investors in
accordance to the main needs and concerned issues from investors and
analysts. It is expected that after the panademic, multiple activities for
investors will be conducted in the second half of 2022 through field trip,
non-deal roadshow and one-to-one meeting and publishing voluntary
disclosure announcement to mass investors in order to enhance their
understanding of the Group.

Should investors have any inquiries and/or suggestions, please contact us
at cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents was adopted on 31 May 2014.
There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year under review.

For and on behalf of the Board
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Nanlu (ARG B8 55 4E) , aged 39, is the executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company since 3 April 2020. He is responsible
for the daily operation and management, strategic investments and new
business exploration of the Group. He joined Zhong An Group Limited
(“Zhong An Group”) in June 2010. He has served as the manager of
the capital management department, manager of the fund management
department and deputy director of the Zhong An Group. He has many
years of experience in financial management. Mr. Shi has resigned from
all of his management positions in the Zhong An Group prior to joining
the Group. He has been a vice president of the Group since June 2015.
Mr. Shi received his undergraduate degree in finance and accounting from
The University of Manitoba in Canada in June 2007.

Mr. Liu Bo (BIig54%), aged 34, is the executive Director and vice
president of the Company since 3 April 2020. He is responsible for overall
daily operations and management of the Group as well as ensuring the
Board functions properly with good corporate governance practice.
He joined the Group in July 2016. He has served as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in the investment
department of He Jun Capital from December 2012 to July 2013, and
in the business development department of Wan Xiang Trust from
August 2013 to June 2016. He has many years of experience in financial
investment and fund management. Mr. Liu holds a Master’'s Degree in
Actuarial Science from the Boston University in December 2012.

Ms. Tang Yiyan (BT84 1), aged 51, is the executive Director and
vice president of the Company, and is responsible for the overall property
management of our Group. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Tang has over 19 years of experience
in operations and management. Prior to joining the Group, she held
various positions including assistant to general manager of Jiaxing Jiahe
Beijing City Shopping Center Company Limited (52 #5 KIL R EEY)
EIHAER/AE]), and manager of sales department, project supervisor,
deputy general manager and vice general manager in general affairs of
Zhejiang Lai Yin Da Commercial Development Company Ltd. GHr L3 &
EmELRARAT). Ms. Tang obtained a diploma in economics and
management from the Zhejiang Province Mechanic and Politics University
G I & B TEUA K2Z) (currently known as Zhejiang University of
Economics and Management GHTASE SR AZ)) in July 1994.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Zhongan (FffiH %2 %t %) (alias Shi Kancheng (##{R %)), aged
59, is a non-executive Director and chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as a Director on 2 July 2013 and re-designated as non-
executive Director on 30 September 2013. He is responsible for assisting
the Board in the strategic planning of the Group, leading the Board
to ensure that it will perform its roles and carry out its responsibilities
effectively, and ensuring proper corporate governance practices and
procedures are implemented within the Group. However, he does not
participate in the day-to-day management of the business operations of
the Group.

Mr. Shi has almost 30 years of experience in property development and
property investment. Mr. Shi currently serves as the executive director
and chairman of Zhong An (stock code: 00672). Mr. Shi served as a tax
officer in the finance and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou
(formerly known as Xiaoshan City) and the general manager of Hangzhou
Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi completed
an Executive Master of Business Administration Program (Finance Track)
organized by Shanghai National Accounting Institute and obtained a CFO
Quialifying Training Certificate in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr. Shi
completed a program for executive officers, focusing on globalization
and real estate developers, co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua
University, The University of Hong Kong and the United States Military
Academy and a program for presidents of real estate companies
organized by Zhejiang University in July 2006. Mr. Shi obtained a doctoral
degree of business administration program jointly organized by Shanghai
Advanced Institute of Finance (SAIF) and W. P. Carey School of Business,
Arizona State University (ASU) in the US in May 2017. Mr. Shi is also a
director of certain members of the Remaining Zhong An Group and the
Group. Mr. Shi is the sole director and the sole shareholder of Whole
Good Management Limited, which is the controlling shareholder of the
Group.

Mr. Tang Min ( ELR% ), aged 66, is the non-executive Director of the
Company and vice chairperson of the Board since 3 April 2020. He is
responsible for the formulation of development strategies. He is a senior
economist.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (R 7t5E%E), aged 62, is an independent
non-executive Director and vice chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2014.
He has over 34 years of experience in operation and management and
is now the chief executive officer and an executive director of L’AVENUE
International Holdings Limited, a private company in Hong Kong. His
leadership responsibilities include strategic planning, financial investments,
management of property development and investment portfolio, both in
Hong Kong and overseas. Since October 2017, he has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Sun Hing Printing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01975), a company whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange and provides independent views to
the board as well as its audit committee and nomination committee. Mr.
Ng was an executive director of Hang Lung Group Limited (stock code:
00010), Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 00101) and Giordano
International Limited (stock code: 00709), companies whose shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, respectively. He also
worked at the Stock Exchange and held various positions. Mr. Ng is a
fellow member of CPA Australia.

Mr. Xu Chengfa (ZEmE5c4E), aged 69, is an independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Xu has over 24 years of experience in
banking operations and management. He worked in the Hong Kong
Branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (stock code: 03328),
a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and held various positions including senior manager of
investment banking department, senior manager of corporate services
department, assistant general manager, deputy general manager, deputy
chief executive officer and consultant.

Mr. Yim Chun Leung (B&#R5%c4), aged 60, is an independent non—
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Yim has over 37 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and corporate finance fields. He is the independent
non-executive Director who has the qualifications and experience to meet
the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Yim is a non-practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He also possesses a master’'s degree in business
administration.

Mr. Yim is also an executive director of Jacobson Pharma Corporation
Limited (@ company whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 02633) which, together with its group
companies, are vertically integrated with the research, development,
production, sale and distribution of generics, specialty drugs, and
branded healthcare products. He has been appointed as a non-executive
director of JBM (Healthcare) Limited (stock code: 02161) since 22
September 2020, whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yim had served in numerous companies listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange which included an executive director and
chief executive officer of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company
Limited (formerly known as New Heritage Holdings Ltd.) (stock code:
00095) since December 2004 and July 2014 respectively until he resigned
in March 2016, the financial controller of Soundwill Holdings Limited
(stock code: 00878) from May 2002 to June 2004, the chief financial
officer of Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 01168)
from December 2000 to February 2002, an executive director of N P H
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Concord New Energy
Group Limited, stock code: 00182) from January 1998 to April 1999 and
the finance director of Tysan Holdings Limited (stock code: 00687) from
January 1994 to January 1998.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu Gaofeng (Bim &5 4)is the Vice President of the Group,
in charge of investment development and operation management.
Mr. Yu joined the Group in September 2019. Prior to joining the
Group, he worked in Zhong An Group Limited from February 2004 to
September 2019. He has been engaged in the real estate, marketing
planning, general manager of the project company and the director of
the president’s office. He has many years of experience in real estate
development. Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor degree in civil engineering
(engineering management) from Zhejiang University in February 2009.
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THE REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China New
City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) are pleased
to present their annual report to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (“the year under review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in commercial property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during
the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW, KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group at 31 December 2021 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 89 to 96.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements is set out on page 252.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY. AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group during the year under review are set out in notes
12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further details of the
Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 173 to 188.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out under the
paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Key Controls” in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in the paragraph headed
“Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
set out in the paragraph headed “Environment Policies and Performance”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified under
current liabilities. Details of the long-term borrowings are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements. Interest and other borrowing
costs capitalised by the Group during the year are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
under review are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Scheme as disclosed in the section headed “The Report
of Directors — Share Option Scheme” of this annual report and note 32 to
the financial statements respectively, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year under review or subsisted at
the end of the year under review.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 33 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to approximately RMB82,363,000 and the Company’s share premium
amounted to RMB719,697,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the
Company, dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this
purpose in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The details of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by
the Shareholders on 20 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date”) are disclosed
pbelow pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

1. Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Directors consider the Scheme, with
its broadened basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward
the employees, the Directors and other selected participants for
their contributions to the Group. Given that the Directors are entitled
to determine any performance targets to be achieved as well as the
minimum period that an option must be held before an option can
be exercised on a case by case basis, and that the exercise price of
an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the
Listing Rules or such higher price as may be fixed by the Directors,
it is expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring about an
increased market price of the Shares in order to capitalise on the
benefits of the options granted.

2. Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for Shares:

(@ any employee (whether full-time or part-time including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company, any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any
entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company, any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
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(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d)  any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer for the grant of
option may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

For avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the Company
for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the Group to
any person who falls within any of the above classes of participants
shall not, by itself, unless the Board otherwise determine, be
construed as a grant of option under the Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of participants to an offer for
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as to his contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.
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3. Maximum number of the Shares available
for Subscription

@)

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Scheme (“General Scheme Limit”").

Subject to (a) above but without prejudice to (d) below, the
Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that
the total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group must not
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit and, for the purpose
of calculating the refreshed limit, options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group will not be counted.
The circular sent by the Company to the Shareholders shall
contain, among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer
required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.
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(d)  Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above,
the Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the General
Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit referred
to in (c) above to participants specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event,
the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted, the purpose
of granting options to the specified participants with an
explanation as to how the terms of the options serve such
purpose and such other information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price)
of options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the
Listing Rules.
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5. Grant of options to the Directors, chief

executive or substantial shareholders
of the Company or their respective
associates

(@  Any grant of options under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Director who or whose associates is the
proposed grantee of the options).

(b)  Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of each offer for the grant, in
excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders. The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at
such general meeting, except that any connected person may vote
against the relevant resolution at the general meeting provided
that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote
taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such options must be
taken on a poll. Any change in the terms of options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

5.

MAARER  TETHABS
FTERRIKESZBZHBEAER
i i i fE

(@ MRESABRAEARADEFT TEZTH
AERETERFTHEAREFEBZ
BMBARLEAOBRELBESHS
IFFNTEE TEESAERIER
BEARAZBIIFATESHER
B #E

b HEAEXTERFEXBIULIFATEER
ERRESBZHBARLEMARE
REFERZATRITERBEER
BREERBREER L1288 #HE
NEERMRBERZFIABRE (8
BEOE-ZHEERERTEZER
) Me R TR EEITZRG -

=3

) REBBERTRMNI%; &

i) BRESREZHRLEHR
MHRHEFEZBERS
5,000,000/ 7T ;

AZFE— I RUBRESATERRAS
LESREME - KAABERKRRELRE
B o EBEAHBBAREABMEZD
BEATERERRRAS LHEREM
ZoRERAEALAIRARKBREAS L
MEMARRRIERE GiiRREERE
R RBE SR AILATER) RIBRIN - K E
HERBARBRENEARRAUKRE
ARET - BRTFEERIABIUIFNITE
EREARESEBMBEANBREZHR
RSB ARRRIRRAS LAt -



Minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised and the
exercise period of the option:

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Board to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is
made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Board and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
option and the period within which
payment must be made:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and options may be accepted by a participant
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (iij the average closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme became effective on 20 May 2015 and unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for a period of
10 years from that date.

6.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

On 18 February 2020, the Company granted share options to the
employees of the Company and other eligible participants (the
“Grantees”) to subscribe for an aggregate of up to 173,800,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company under the
Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 May 2015 at an exercise price
per share of HK$0.998. The number of share options so granted to the
respective classes of Grantees are summarised as follows:

Classes of Grantees

e R 1T B BV R B

1£20205F2813H » KA B RIBAR QB 11201545
SA20H Mz ZetBmA R R EERAMEE
wamE ((RBA) BHERE URESHER
%173,800,000/% A4 A B ¢ A A 5 IR I 1E0. 1078
T EER SRERMITEERC.BEIT T
ZHER A ANERES BB T

Number of share
options granted

AR ANER RHUNEREHRE
Employees BE 154,682,000
Suppliers Note g mAE 13,904,000
Advisors o [BE R 5,214,000
Total: =Ea 173,800,000

Note: The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant share options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Particularly, the share options are granted to the suppliers of the Group to attract
and maintain ongoing business relationships, and to the advisers of the Group
to recognise their contribution in terms of providing strategic advice in relation to
the overall management of the Group and to optimise the Group’s performance

efficiency.

None of the Grantees is a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or an associate (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of any of them. The vesting period of the share options granted
was from 13 February 2020 to 12 February 2022, both dates inclusive.
The closing price before the date of grant of the share options under
the Scheme on 13 February 2020 was HK$1.00. The fair value of the
share options granted during the year ended 31 December 2020 was
HK$27,895,000, which was estimated as at the date of grant using a
binomial option pricing model.

During the year under review, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Scheme. As at 31 December 2021, the number
of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme was 173,800,000.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 2% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for
the year under review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 24% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 12% of the
Group’s consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (who or which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Nanlu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Bo (Vice President)
Ms. Tang Yiyan (Vice President)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Shi Zhongan (alias Shi Kancheng) (Chairperson)
Mr. Tang Min (Vice Chairperson)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (Vice Chairperson)
Mr. Xu Chengfa
Mr. Yim Chun Leung
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.18 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report, there were no change in the Directors
information subsequent to the publication of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 57 to 60 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Shi Nanlu and Mr. Liu Bo, all being the executive Directors,
has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant to which
he agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three years
with effect from 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable for a
successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

Ms. Tang Yiyan, being executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which she agreed to act as the
executive Director for a term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014,
which is automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from
the next day upon the expiry of the appointment.
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Mr. Shi Zhongan, being non-executive Director, has been appointed
for an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Mr. Tang Min, being the non-executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable for a successive term
of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Each of Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung,
all being independent non-executive Directors, has been appointed for
an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the
AGM) has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year under review
is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the directors and chief
executive or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
as compensation for loss of office.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years as of 31 December 2021.
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The band of the remuneration of senior management personal and related
number of members of senior management personnel are as follows:

EAREIEABFMAER U KBRS REEA
BEAHWNT :

o

2021 2020

20215 20204

Number of Number of

Remuneration band (HK$) AR B CBEE) individuals Individuals
A N

Nil to 1,000,000 2% 1,000,0007T - 2
Over 1,000,000 #381,000,0007T 4 1
4 3

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of the Company, the Company had a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year
under review and as at the date of approval of this report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis. During the year under review, no claims were made
against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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122021F12B310 > A RBEFRESITHA
BRARB RN ER (FEBEGHE571
BERESKRAERA (EHFRBEEA) SXVE
BYRE) BIRM - BRERMD RERERERTA
RIRE S R ERA E352F R EFERN M
Rz EmAR R WRBRETRASTANE R
NE MRz Bm Rk AT

Name of Approximate

Group member/ percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest Number of share(s) held shareholding

FEEREAE/

EE4 LB R a1/ it E PR 8B BRERLAT AT
(Note 1)
(Hiz#1)

Mr. Zhongan The Company Interest of controlled corporations 1,356,889,594 shares of 67.48%
(Note 2) HK$0.10 each (L)
ik NG SR EEN R (Wa2) 1,356,889,594 R SR E
0.10BTRMHL)

Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation 3,262,411,200 shares of 57.89%
(Note 3) HK$0.10 each (L)
by SETIEENES (153 3,262,411,200 SR EE

Whole Good Beneficial owner
24F BLnBEAA

0.10BTTRABL)

1 share of US$1.00 (L) 100%
1REET.00ETTRMBL)

FEF AL ERERAD
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Notes:

= The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2, Among these 1,356,889,594 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
(“Shares”), 1,325,586,000 Shares are held by Ideal World Investments Limited
(“Ideal World”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. The entire issued shares
of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole Good, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan. In addition, 31,303,594 Shares are held by Whole
Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the
Shares in which each of Ideal World and Whole Good is interested.

3. These shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Zhongan
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Zhong An in which Whole Good is

interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

et -

1. FEMIARZA TR EARAT HNARMEBEERR
FABRARR D BIIF A ©

2. PRI A A F)1,356,889,594 % 5 BR EI 1E0. 1038 7T
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, no
contracts of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year under review.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received the written confirmation from Ideal
World, Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Zhongan (collectively, the
“Controlling Shareholders”) in respect of the compliance with the
provisions of the amended non-compete undertakings (“Amended
Non-compete Undertakings”), entered into between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company as set out in the circular dated 5 March
2021.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and confirmed
that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Non-compete
Undertakings and the Non-compete Undertakings has been enforced by
the Company in accordance with its terms during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”, at no time
during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of Shares held capital
EEATBERIT
RERBTE 517 #EtE FrfERn B 2= o
(Note 1)
(HyzE1)
|deal World Beneficial owner 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
BEmEAA 1,325,586,000 JZAZ 14 (L)
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
ME RESIEENER (H52) 1,325,586,000 BZBZ1A(L)
Whole Good Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
24f SEGEEN R (H5t2) 1,325,586,000 ARAZA(L)
Beneficial owner 31,303,594 Shares (L) 1.56%
BEmEAA 31,303,594 B&AZ1A(L)
Notes: Bt
1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. FRMNARZALREBOHEFE -

2. These Shares are held by Ideal World, the wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. 2. ZERDHARLELEN B R EIdeal WorldfFH o R

The entire issued shares of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole ZWEEEETROBDYY HRETRLELER
Good, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan. By virtue of the SFO, each E) FBH57.890%m - IRIEFZ S MPERM R
of Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the T2 R L e S BIE AR deal World#E
Shares in which Ideal World is interested. E%& SRIRRD PR A o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, other than the Bk EXXFFIREEE SN 1R2021FE128318 » FRALD
Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose interests are set BEERBSITHAS ERFHN EXES
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests &S THA BR4A T 2 (E RIAB B A E YR
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 7~ 1ERAR ) K BB IR KA1 —ER) Fb
Company or any associated corporation” above, no person had interest % A £ IR1D AR D ¥R B BN IR I
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were required 55 % KR HIE B E336IK R ER AT FEENE
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company SR ERIKE o

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organized by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities
for the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of
these retirement plans are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year under review, the Group donated RMB314,000 (2020:
RMB3,250,000).

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and,
to the knowledge of the Directors, they confirm that the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital held
by the public for the year under review and as at the date of this annual
report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding
the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its reappointment as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On Behalf of the Board of
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

st
EY:x

To the shareholders of China New City Commercial Development
Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 251, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

P EtFIA

FRESAFTEEREBERMINFEEHE BHHEK
HGRoVMBRANENRABEENFE-ZFF
BEREERMBAERGOMBRRAKREARR
RETREN - R THELEFREHEBH
BER-BMUTERFE RANBESHNAEREZE
BZ MBI X AR # o

RPERTARE (B2 F S I BRE
FRENEMF —HENERE BREAMZEE
EREE-FIL RPN EFBENTREL R
B BRRENERARNFEMROIET B
SHERNARBEREBUTEENER  AEM
PRSI BRANEAEREHRER

Key audit matter

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANB N ARRARESEE

Valuation of investrment properties

REYFEZ1EE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB5,291 million, which represented 34% of
the Group’s total assets. Investment properties were stated
at fair value. Management was required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment properties
as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
12021128310 EEEKREYE S AR 155,291,000,000
T HENEEBBEEENSI% KREMENRAANEET
Rom AR EMBIMRMEAMKE  ERERNEETREYE
ZRRBER BETEARAL-
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We performed audit procedures including:
BMETHNSESIEFEE !

We evaluated the competence and independence of
the external valuation expert engaged by the Group. We
reviewed rental contracts, compared the prices of the
investment properties with the unit prices of adjacent
similar properties that were benchmarked in the valuation
process, assessed assumptions relating to future market
rents, compared the current prices in the active market for
adjacent similar properties, and assessed the discount rates
and future maintenance costs applied based on historical
experiences with the involvement of our internal valuation
specialists, who focused on the term vyield, reversionary yield
and market unit rent. We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
BT EEEMES 2N EEERNEN KRB -
BMBREEEY REBREERFREEYENEREN
AAELUE Z BEHL  URHEMOASEEZEAER
S BLR AR i 5 E SAER AR R ~ BTG BB T 35 L B AR
HEUMENEFER > MTGHIREE LK RERNITE
KR ARRMEERA > T EHHFRARRE - ERNAER K
MBEUEE - BT ERAEHBRENREN TR
o



Key audit matter

BB EE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANB N ARRARESEE

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

REYFEZ141E (B

The Group engaged an external valuation expert to perform
the valuation of investment properties. The valuation methods
applied included the direct comparison approach and income
approach which involved various assumptions, such as
estimated rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.
SEEEERBFEIIBEEERLVETREMEZGE KB
HEFLFOEEEHILERIRSERRZIMAE  SFE G
STHEESWA TR HBEX BERZ KT BHH

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MR BEEN G E M EIRERM 2.4~ 38130

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

HIFEEZ B ERYERZERTYEZ T EEFE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale amounted
to RMB3,974 million, which represented 26% of the Group’s
total assets. These properties were stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value was estimated
by management based on expected selling prices, the cost of
completion of properties under development, and the costs to
be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions. The estimation of the net realisable value involved
significant judgement.
R2021F12A3 1B EEBERTPYERFFHEZE R
I A AR 13,974,000,00070  HHER SEMBEE
26% c ZEMEUM AR PIBIRFEZRREIR -EEEER
RBTHR RBBRREE - TR ERPYERERBEEY
ERFTELEZHAG I ZRFE R FEGTIRE
HRH

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 14 and 23
to the consolidated financial statements.

MR BN G E M EIRERMFE2.4~3 145230

We performed audit procedures including:
BrETHNSEAREFEE

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value estimation
and checked the expected selling prices to prices of
similar properties presold by the Group recently or adjacent
properties sold. For the cost of completion of properties
under development and the cost to be incurred in selling
the properties, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology, which had been updated to reflect the latest
information and the refined construction and selling costs
budget process.
RMEEREEE SR FEMs kEREMAEENRS
EETHIATRERAMYESN S E M ZENER - BT E
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Key audit matter

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAINEF M ARRARESNEE

Impairment assessment of gooawill acquired in business combinations

REB G W KB B &L R IE IS

As at 31 December 2021, goodwill, arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries, was fully impaired and the carrying value of
goodwill amounted to nil. Under IFRSs, the Group is required
to perform an impairment test for goodwill at least on an
annual basis and adjust the carrying amount based on the test
result. The impairment test is based on the recoverable value
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwil
was allocated. An impairment loss of RMB99 million has been
recognised for goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2021.
20215128310 WERB AT EENEE SR RERK
HEREABEAZS T -REERYBREER EEEEAS
FHBEEZVDET —REANRLREANEHGERBEIRE
BoRENADLREBEESEEE 2 ReELH BT ((REEH
Bit)) N EBEEIT B E2021F12831HIEFE &
L ERREREAR99,000,0007T

Management’s assessment process was complex and
significant judgement was involved, including the degree of
subjectivity of expected future cash flow forecasts, associated
growth rates and the discount rate applied.
BIEENMLBRERE RIS RERFIE  SEMERNE
HARRIRERETEN HE RERARENFEH M-

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

R BN R A M R R MEE2.4 3Kk16°
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We performed audit procedures including:
BrIETNETERaE

We have evaluated the basis of goodwill allocation to CGUs.
EAE B kEEE s REELETNEE.

We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the models and certain assumptions used by the
Group in the impairment testing of goodwill, and evaluated
the rationality and reasonableness of the cash flow forecast
model and management’s key assumptions including the
discount rate and long-term average growth rate.
RUERFANESLEERSE LB RMAFEEERER
AmEREARPEANREERETRSE LHERERE
FEARLREEEN I EME (BRGEREXERATEIE
B NBBEREEN -

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

BB EGRaMBRETRENTD M-



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LIRS R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
AR

HEaMBERR

e
af
H

o  FMEEFARATSIHRNBEERIEL
BEHESHAIERIREN Gt

s HESRAFBLESIERNGEMNF
MG o IRIBFAEIBI B RE  BER
ARTHEFENBEREENERTREE
Mo RMA R BN EEEMFELERE
NEEERRE -WRRMBAFEEKR
TREMN AL EERBMBRENIRS
EREIRGEEMBHRRTERIKE-
BREAMNIRESE  MIRMEZSERE
BRERR -HANGEHREENZHEMER
S HIEFTESE SRR - 24T > KRR FE
BB R P RS EE BN EREEE -

s HERAMBRENERIKRSN BB
MAD OEEE URGEMBEREE
AR ERBAERZZNER

s HMESERNERIEZINMTERE
DRE BEMNBRE UWEHEKEY
BREZRER - KM EEEEEFH
AR BEEMRT HASBFERKE
EEE-

PREMERN RMPEEREZEGERE T HED

B RE HEZH EXBEA LIRS 27K
FIFEZE 55 B A BB =R E (T EAGAKE o

R R LR EARAR
IR —EFHR

87



33

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LIRS R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

24 March 2022

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

»‘T (&) j: \il%

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; 220215128310 LEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
23 ARBEFT ARBEF T
Revenue A 5 871,066 700,370
Cost of sales HE A (654,569) (530,215)
Gross profit EF 216,497 170,155
Other income and gains, net HAWA R > /B 5B 5 374,689 186,665
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHEEX (182,698) (164,303)
Administrative expenses TERX (249,476) (201,024)
Other expenses Hifx 5 (151,826) (43,288)
Finance costs MHEER 7 (223,094) (219,197)
Share of losses of: FEMELL T ABIEIE -
A joint venture BEhE 20 (805) -
Fair value gain upon transfer to BEELEYEZ
investment properties NAEERTR 13 - 356,806
Changes in fair value of WEMENQ N EEES)
investment properties 13 (60,311) 23,030
(Loss)/profit before tax PRiS AT (B518) FUH 6 (277,024) 108,844
Income tax expense Frigfimsz 10 (25,791) (83,763)
(Loss)/profit for the year EE (§518) F)H (302,815) 25,081
Attributable to: LU FEf -
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZZ =N (295,136) 44,429
Non-controlling interests JEIER T (7,679) (19,348)
(302,815) 25,081
(Loss)/earnings per share BREEERESIFEA
attributable to ordinary equity FELER% (B518) & #
holders of the parent 11
Basic B RMB (14.7 cents) RMB2.2 cents
AREW4.7)S AR#E2.29
Diluted e RMB (14.7 cents) RMB2.2 cents
AR¥(14.7)5 ARI2.25
continued/...
i=p o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ke A 7%

Year ended 31 December 2021 & FE2021F12831H IEEE

2021 2020
2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBEF T
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (§518) F)H (302,815) 25,081
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hih2m (B518) &
Other comprehensive loss that may be REEREEENDEE
reclassified to profit or loss in BmiEMEmEE !
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: PEERELE !
Exchange differences on translation of B IBINETERIE 2 E 58
foreign operations (1,778) (14,755)
Net other comprehensive loss that may REZHBOESEHDEE
be reclassified to profit or loss B EMEEmEIEFEE
in subsequent periods (1,778) (14,755)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that REZPERBAEEM D
will not be reclassified to profit or ZEGTNHEME2E (518
loss in subsequent periods: W
Equity investments designated at fair value 15E &3¢ A AEESTA
through other comprehensive income: H2mRmRARE .
Changes in fair value NAEEED (65,480) 17,200
Income tax effect g2 16,370 (4,300)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income REEHREBEAEEND
that will not be reclassified to profit or BEEGNEMEE
loss in subsequent periods (18 W FEE (49,110) 12,900
Total comprehensive (loss)/income XEEZRE (HB) W=
for the year 4H%E (353,703) 23,226
Attributable to: LAUFREAS
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ DN (346,024) 42,574
Non-controlling interests JEERR (7,679) (19,348)
(353,703) 23,226
continued/...
B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SR MBHIRDIR

31 December 2021 [2202112331H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Viog=3 AR¥FT ARFTT
Non-current assets EREEE
Property and equipment EYSES 12 2,402,079 2,483,582
Investment properties KEYZE 13 5,245,954 5,359,845
Properties under development FaEldeeky/E 14 1,065,488 955,398
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 140,850 318,126
Goodwill 2 16 - 98,995
Other intangible assets HihEmrEE 17 30,787 32,522
Equity investments designated at fair value f57E 2 A A EEFT A EM
through other comprehensive income E2EKRENEREE 18 335,050 392,590
Long term prepayments RHBFA(TRR 19 283,138 338,761
Investment in a joint venture REGE RN ZRE 20 32,441 =
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBE E 21 23,826 11,889
Restricted cash ZREIRE 26 12,000 =
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 9,571,613 9,991,708
Current assets REMEE
Completed properties held for sale FIFHEBR T 23 1,087,065 1,255,130
Properties under development FREE Y2 14 1,821,537 1,153,750
Inventories 78 35,333 24,631
Trade receivables FEUR B8 5 BR =R 24 41,246 37,636
Prepayments, other receivables and a1 FIE ~ EMh R EUE K
other assets Hh&EE 25 382,358 539,276
Amounts due from related companies FEUR BB A B RIB 36 585,040 1,009,969
Financial assets at fair value through BAREESABRZ
profit or loss SRIEE 68 113
Restricted cash SREIIRE 26 332,965 114,776
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEY 26 1,603,069 994,112
Investment properties classified DEARFIFHEZREME
as held for sale 13 44,546 54,755
Total current assets BREEE 5,933,227 5,184,148
Current liabilities B I=RE
Trade payables FE1T B ZBRRR 27 480,901 532,399
Other payables and accruals HMME N RIERESTER 28 309,808 289,684
Contract liabilities aHaE 29 2,063,292 393,694
Amounts due to related companies FE{T BB A B RN IB 36 818,234 605,910
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B $R17 & EL fth & 30 1,527,310 665,555
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 29,100 35,061
Tax payable FE(SFRIE 10 430,804 549,082
Total current liabilities wREmas 5,659,449 3,071,385
Net current assets MENEEFRE 273,778 2,112,763
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRSHER 9,845,391 12,104,471
continued/...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BRI

31 December 2021 2021&E12831H

2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR#FT AREEFTT
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5+ B 817 & ELfthf& =R 30 3,107,940 4,803,094
Deferred tax liabilities RILRIEEE 21 865,211 907,819
Lease liabilities HEas 15 138,645 316,140
Total non-current liabilities HMIEREEaE 4,111,796 6,027,053
Net assets FEE 5,733,595 6,077,418
Equity gy
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & A B A ABELEZR
Share capital N 31 160,220 160,220
Reserves L] 33 5,339,922 5,674,558
5,500,142 5,834,778
Non-controlling interests PR 233,453 242,640
Total equity S 5,733,595 6,077,418
Shi Nanlu Liu Bo
1t 3 B 2K
Director Director
EBE EBE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

s e MRS

Year ended 31 December 2021 #; 220215128310 LEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARRRAES
Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share premium Capital  Fair value Other surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
faf ‘ 24 ‘ iR ER R
ik BER  RMEE 0 BERE  BMEE  BEEE O RBRE  REUE 3t & aEn
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ABETT ABETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 31 Notes 316336 Note 33lb) Note 32 Note 33
Hidst Bis1ks3p Hiasp V534 HiE336)
At1 January 2020 2020£181R 160,443 721,694 1,281,751 6,750 5974 81,716 244,637 3,281,086 5,784,051 367,484 6,141,535
Proft for the year ERTIE . . . - - - - 4409 U9 oy 2508t
Other comprehensive income EREMRENE
for the year:
Exchange diferences related to EEENERZEREE
foreign operations S S S S S S (14,755) S (14,755) S (14,759)
Changes in far velue of investiments ~ RARBEFAENZE
atfair value through other WENEENAAES
comprehengive income, net of tax 28 1iRE - - - 12,900 - - - - 12,900 - 12,900
Total comprehensive income EREENGEE
for the year . . . 12900 . ST M9 D54 (93 232%
Repurchase of shares BERR (229 (1,997) - - - - - - 2,220 - 2220
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-BIEAT - - - - - - - - - (95,496) (95,498)
Equity-settied share option arangements LR SN B RIER S - - - - 10373 - - - 10378 - 10373
At 31 December 2020 HR2020E12831H 160,220 719697 1,281,751 19,650 16,347 81,716" 200882 3325515 5,834,778 242,640 6,077,418
At 1 January 2021 HR2021E18 1R 160,220 719697 1,281,751* 19,650* 16,347* 81,716* 200882+ 3325515 5834778 242,640 6,077,418
Loss for the year ERER - . . 5 . . - @51 (51%) (619 (302815
Other comprehensive loss ERHEMEEGE
for the year:
Exchange diferences related to AEEN R ERER
foreign operations - - - - - - (1,778) - (1,778) - (1,778
Changes in fair velue of investments AR BEFALNZE
at fair value through other WENEENAREE
comprehensive income, net of tax 28 NRRE - - - (49,110) - - - - (49,110) - (49,110)
Total comprehensive loss EREEERLEE
for the year - - - (49,110) - - (1,778) (295,136) (346,024) (7,679) (353,703)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - - - - - - - - = (1,508) (1,508)
Equity-settled share option amangements  LER S ERERESE - - - - 11,388 - - - 11,388 - 11,388
At 31 December 2021 RoWIE128318 160220 TIO8T 128175 (9460F 2073 BTG 2804 3030379 5500142 203458 5733505
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBROBEGEUBRARAGREREARE
RMB5,339,922,000 (2020: RMB5,674,558,000) in the consolidated statement of 5,339,922,0007T (20204 : A R#5,674,558,0007T

financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SR Bl R R

Year ended 31 December 2021 & FE2021F12831H IEEE

2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARBFT ARBEF T
Cash flows from operating activities  EEXFEWIREHRE
(Loss)/profit before tax FRISAT (B538) F)H (277,024) 108,844
Adjustments for: B
Depreciation of property and equipment MERREITE 12 110,719 98,695
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hihm & s 17 1,735 1,735
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 15 49,821 41,707
Fair value gain upon transfer to BEBEELBEYEN
investment properties NABERZ 13 - (356,806)
Changes in fair value of investment SEVENARBE
properties #H) 13 60,311 (23,030)
Loss on disposal of items of investment HEREYXEE Y
properties 518 6 3,977 36,153
Changes in fair value of financial assets at A BEESTAEBTZ
fair value through profit or loss SREBEEZ ANEE
=) 6 42 (163)
Share of profits and losses of: EELT AT
a joint venture MBS
EBEPE 20 805 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAB ZWm 5 (56,515) (84,937)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAEEE WG 5 (25,823) -
Gain on disposal of items of property HEMERRBEEZ
and equipment Wz 6 (14,427) -
Impairment of goodwill BERE 6 98,995 =
Impairment provision for property and MERFREZ BERE
equipment 6 11,436 S
Equity-settled share option expense UEREE 7 BRERAS 32 11,388 10,373
Finance costs &R 7 223,094 219,197
Dividend income from equity BAREER AEM
investments at fair value through other 2ENE A
comprehensive income KRERREWA 5 (54,315) =
144,219 51,768
Increase in properties under development B8 &% 42380 (818,766) (556,278)
Decrease in completed properties FEEEEB TYERLD
held for sale 335,844 231,513
Increase in trade receivables FEWL & 5 BR =R 0 (4,813) (8,261)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and & K B FE U IE
other receivables B () 144,767 (230,191)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and BENRREMEE
other assets agm) wEb (31,069) 332,033
Decrease/(increase) in long term EEFEMTURL 7 G5)
prepayments 55,623 (208,945)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =& @gm b (12,091) 3,069
Increase in restricted cash for FEEMEMIBRRHIRE
pre-sales proceeds 10 (194,652) (73,907)
Decrease in trade payables FE B ZERUR D (14,517) (93,449)
Increase in other payables and accruals HhpE B R ETE R
B 40,061 84,996
Increase in contract liabilities SHaEEM 1,696,359 158,357
continued/...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HABlEnRSR
Year ended 31 December 2021 & E2021F128331H IEFE

2021 2020
2021% 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k23 AR®FT ARBETF T
Cash generated from/(used in) REEEES  GER®
operations HE 1,340,965 (309,295)
Interest paid BEFE (346,809) (396,872)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid B {1 FriS0 K T #h g ER (181,137) (94,695)
Net cash flows generated REHRESE GER W
from/(used in) opera